Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-26-2018

Valiant Idaho, LLC v. VP Incorporated Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44585

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This case arises from a failed golf course development project in Sandpoint, Idaho known as the "Idaho Club" undertaken by Pend Oreille Bonner Development, LLC. ("POBD"). March 16, 2016 Trial Tr. p. 582, l. 17 – p. 583, l. 2. POBD took out several loans to finance the development and subsequently defaulted on them, failed to pay mechanics and materialmen for their services, and failed to pay Bonner County for real property taxes. At this juncture, the present case involves a suit by Valiant Idaho, LLC ("Valiant) to collect on certain promissory notes, to foreclose the mortgages securing those notes, and to foreclosure a redemption deed obtained by Valiant from Bonner County for some past due real property taxes it paid on some of the parcels.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

ŧ

The record in this matter is voluminous. Given the number of parties involved in the foreclosure proceedings, many of the pleadings are not relevant to this appeal. This course of proceedings is abbreviated to address those aspects which relate to VP Incorporated's present appeal.

This suit commenced on October 13, 2009 when Genesis Golf, an entity which provided golf development services, filed an action alleging breach of contract against POBD, and sought to foreclose its mechanic lien. R Vol. I, pp. 172-196. Genesis Golf named multiple other parties whom had filed mechanic liens or mortgages against the real property. *Id.* Amongst the numerous defendants listed in the complaint were R.E. Loans, LLC ("REL"), Pensco Trust Co. custodian for the benefit of Barney Ng ("Pensco"), Mortgage Fund '08, LLC ("MF08"), and VP, Incorporated ("VP").

1

Paragraph 40 of the Complaint indicated "Defendant VP may also claim an interest in the Property in relation to the JV Mortgage. Defendant VP's interest in the Property or some portion thereof, may be junior and subservient to Plaintiff's interest in the Property." R Vol. I, p. 178.

ACI Northwest, Inc. ("ACI") filed an answer, counterclaims, cross-claims and third-party complaint on August 9, 2010. R Vol. II, pp. 204-227. ACI added Panhandle State Bank as a third-party defendant. *Id*.

On May 24, 2010, Pensco filed a special appearance. R Vol. II, pp. 201-203. MF08 filed a special appearance on October 5, 2010. R Vol. II, pp. 228-232.

REL filed an appearance on October 14, 2010. R Vol. II, pp. 233-236. REL filed a "reply" to ACI's cross-claim on February 4, 2011. R Vol. II, pp. 237-243. REL filed an answer to Genesis Golf's complaint on April 21, 2011. R Vol. II, pp. 245-259. In its answer, REL admitted it had assigned its interest, or a portion thereof, to Wells Fargo Foothill pursuant to the Collateral Assignment of Mortgage and Loan Documents recorded on July 31, 2007. *Id*, at ¶ 38.

On September 29, 2011, the district court entered a stay order due to a bankruptcy filed by REL. Vol. II, pp. 275-283. On September 29, 2011, the district court also entered a stay order due to a bankruptcy filed by MF08. R Vol. II, pp.284-289.

On January 23, 2012, Wells Fargo moved to dismiss the suit filed by Genesis Golf with prejudice for failure to appear after withdrawal of its attorney. R Vol. II, pp. 298-301. This motion was granted on March 16, 2012. R Vol. II, pp. 312-316.

On June 28, 2012, REL requested to lift its bankruptcy stay. R Vol. II, pp. 317-324. An order granting the request was entered August 24, 2012. R Vol. II, pp. 325-329. On June 26, 2013, REL moved with supporting pleadings to lift the MF08's bankruptcy stay. R Vol. III, pp. 336-361. An order granting the motion was entered August 12, 2013. R V. III, pp. 374-377.

2

Thereafter, several parties sought and obtained default judgments against Genesis Golf. R Vol. III, pp. 362-365, 378-433.

On April 29, 2014, REL moved for summary judgment against ACI. R Vol. III, pp. 438-450; Vol IV, pp. 451-487. Findings on REL's motion against ACI were entered July 21, 2014. R Vol. V, pp. 647-652. A judgment declaring REL's mortgage lien superior to ACI's lien was entered July 21, 2014. R Vol. V, pp. 674-652.¹

REL also moved for summary judgment against cross-claimant R. C. Worst & Company, Inc. R Vol. IV, pp. 488-550; Vol. V, pp. 551-635. On June 2, 2014, an order was entered dismissing R.C. Worst & Company's claims, counterclaims and cross claims pursuant to an oral offer of resolution advanced to the trial court on May 28, 2014. R Vol. V, p.

On July 21, 2014, a motion and supporting pleadings were filed to substitute Valiant Idaho, LLC ("Valiant") in place of REL as the real party in interest. R Vol. V, pp. 656-666. An order substituting Valiant in place of REL was entered August 7, 2014. R Vol. V, pp. 667-669.

On August 18, 2014, a motion to substitute Valiant as the real party in interest in place of Wells Fargo Capital Finance, LLC was filed with supporting pleadings. R Vol. V, p. 670-673; Vol. VI, pp. 674-738. An order granting this motion was entered September 12, 2014. R Vol. VI, pp. 781-783.

Although REL had previously answered and filed cross-claims against ACI and R.C. Worst, and litigated those claims, on August 19, 2014, without leave of the district court, Valiant (as assignee to REL) filed a counterclaim, cross-claim and third-party complaint for judicial foreclosure. R Vol. VI, pp. 739-767. Valiant alleged it was informed and believed, and on that basis, alleged that the named cross-defendants claimed an interest in the property described in

¹ Although REL had assigned its interest in the mortgage to Wells Fargo Foothills, LLC, it does not appear ACI challenged REL's standing to seek a declaration that REL had superior lien rights to ACI.

Exhibit "A" to the complaint, and indicated the real property described therein, and all improvements thereon, would be referred to "as the Idaho Club Property." *Id.* at p. 746, ¶ 33. VP was named as a cross-defendant.

Valiant alleged breach of contract on the REL loan and alleged its damages were not less than \$708,000.00, plus additional interest, unpaid loan fees and late fees accruing under the REL loan documents. *Id.* Valiant alleged it was entitled to judgment foreclosing the REL mortgage and adjudicating the mortgage to be superior to and prior in right, title and interest to any right, title or interest claimed by all defendants. *Id* at ¶ 72. Valiant alleged the "…judgment should, pursuant to Idaho Code § 45-1302, specify the respective priority(ies) of Valiant's and each Defendant's claims of right, title and interest in and to the Idaho Club Property, and adjudicate the outstanding amounts secured by of the same." The complaint did not seek a quiet title against VP. R Vol. VI, pp. 739-767. Valiant also alleged causes of action on the Pensco loan and the MF08 loan although it had not been substituted as the real party in interest for either of these parties.

On October 3, 2014, VP accepted service of Valiant's counterclaim, cross-claim and thirdparty complaint. R Vol. VII, pp. 908-910. On October 6, 2014, VP filed a motion to dismiss the counterclaim, cross-claim and third-party complaint advanced by REL because it had been filed without seeking leave of the district court as required by Rule 15, I.R.C.P., and because it advanced claims for Pensco and MF08, parties for whom Valiant had not been substituted. R Vol. VII, pp. 959-962.

On October 6, 2014, Valiant filed its motion with supporting pleadings for Valiant to substitute as the real party in interest for MF08 and Pensco. R. Vol. VIII, pp. 928-952. On November 5, 2014, Valiant filed its motion for leave to file an amended answer to allege a

counterclaim and cross-claim, and to serve its third-party complaint, together with its opposition memorandum to VP's motion to dismiss. R Vol. VIII, pp. 977-995. VP filed its reply November 14, 2014. R Vol. X, pp. 1156-1159. On November 19, 2014, the district court issued its order granting Valiant leave to serve its third-party complaint. R Vol. X, pp. 1156-1159. The district court also entered an order granting Valiant leave to amend its answer to allege a counterclaim and cross-claim and deemed the prior pleading filed August 19, 2014, served as the amended pleading and deemed it filed as of August 19, 2014 (i.e. *nunc pro tunc*). R Vol. X, pp. 1160-1163.² On November 19, 2014, the district court entered its order denying VP's motion to dismiss. R Vol. X, pp. 1174-1177.

On November 19, 2014, the district court entered two other orders, one substituting Valiant as the real party in interest in place of Pensco, and the other substituting Valiant in place of MF08. R Vol. X, pp. 1168-1173.

On November 19, 2014, POBD stipulated to entry of judgment against it. R Vol. X, pp. 1178-1199. POBD stipulated that it owed certain balances on the REL debt, the Pensco debt, and the MF08 debt. *Id.* It also stipulated that Valiant had paid property taxes. *Id.*

On November 20, 2014, one day after granting Valiant leave to file its amended answer, cross-claims and third-party complaint, the trial court issued its Order Setting Trial and Pretrial Order which scheduled trial for August 24, 2015. R Vol. X, pp. 1270-1275.

² It was improper for the district court to back date the filing. The power to amend *nunc pro tunc* is "a limited one, and may be used only where necessary to correct a clear mistake and prevent injustice. It does not imply the ability to alter the substance of that which actually transpired or to backdate events to serve some other purpose." *United States v. Sumner*, 226 F. 3d 1005, 1009–10 (9th Cir. 2000) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted); *see also Singh v. Mukasey*, 533 F.3d 1103, 1110 (9th Cir. 2008) (quoting *Transamerica Ins. Co. v. South*, 975 F.2d 321, 325 (7th Cir. 1992) (holding that "a *nunc pro tunc* order is typically used to correct clerical or ministerial errors," but as a general rule does not enable the court to make "substantive changes affecting parties' rights"). However, since no statute of limitations was affected by the error, it was harmless with respect to VP.

On December 1, 2014, VP requested an extension of time to plead to the cross-claim against it. R VI. XI, pp. 1377-1378. The district court granted the motion. R. Vol. XI, p. 1379-1381. On December 11, 2014, VP answered the cross-claim filed against it. R. Vol. XII, pp. 1533-1540.

On January 20, 2015, Valiant moved for summary judgment against JV, LLC; North Idaho Resorts, LLC ("NIR"), and VP. R Vol. XIV, 1720-1724. Valiant filed a memorandum in support of the summary judgment. R Vol. XIV pp. 1725-1746. Valiant also filed the supporting Declaration of Jeff Sykes (R Vol. XIV, p. 1747 – R Vol. XVI, p. 1911) and the Affidavit of Charles Reeves (R Vol. XVII, p. 1912 – XVIII, p. 2069).

On February 4, 2015, VP and NIR filed their joint memorandum in opposition to the summary judgment. R Vol. XXI, pp. 2359-2371. VP also requested the court take judicial notice of a memorandum filed by REL in Bonner County Case No. CV-2011-0135, *Union Bank v. Pend Oreille Bonner Development, LLC et al.*³ R Vol. XXI, pp. 2372 – 2391. The Affidavit of Richard Villelli was also filed in opposition to the motion. R Vol. XXI, pp. 2392-2451.

Valiant filed its reply memorandum on March 11, 2015. R Vol. XXII, pp. 2547-2559. On April 14, 2015, the district court entered its Memorandum Decision & Order Granting Valiant's Motion for Summary Judgment against VP, North Idaho Resorts, LLC and JV, LLC. R Vol. XXII, p. 2560-2578.

On April 28, 2015, JV filed its Motion to Alter, Amend and to Reconsider the Court's Memorandum Decision and Order Filed 04/14/2015 and Request for Oral Argument Time/Date for a Hearing; Not Yet to be Set. R Vol. XXII, p. 2579-2595. On April 29, 2015, VP filed a motion for reconsideration and clarification. R Vol. XXII, pp. 2596-2597. VP filed a renewed

³³ This district case was the subject of an appeal decided by this Court in Union Bank, N.A. v. North Idaho Resorts, LLC, 161 Idaho 583, 388 P.3d 907 (2017).

motion for reconsideration and clarification on June 16, 2015, and a supporting memorandum. R Vol. XXIV, pp. 2781-2798. On July 6, 2015, Valiant filed an opposition to the motion. R Vol. XXIV, pp. 2804-2819. On July 6, 2015, VP filed its reply in support of its motion. R Vol. XXIV, pp. 2820-2836.

On May 20, 2015, Valiant moved for entry of final judgment, together with a supporting memorandum and a declaration of Jeff Sykes and C. Dean Shafer in support of the motion for entry of final judgment. R Vol. XXII, p. 2600 – Vol. XXIII, p. 2748. On June 23, 2015, the district court entered a Memorandum Decision and Order Granting Motion for Entry of Final Judgment. R Vol. XXIV, pp. 2791-2798. VP objected to the proposed final judgment. R Vol. XXIV, pp. 2844-2846.

On July 21, 2015, the district court issued its memorandum decision and order on the motion to reconsider on JV, NIR and VP's Motions to Reconsider and Valiant's Request for Entry of a proposed Final Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure and Sale. R. Vol. XXIV, p. 2856-2877.

On July 22, 2015, Valiant presented a motion for an order of sale on the real property, supported by the Declarations of C. Dean Shafer and Charles W. Reeves. R Vol. XXV, pp. 2880-2966. On August 4, 2015, VP objected to the motion for the order of sale as proposed by Valiant, and supported the objection with the Declaration of Richard Villelli. R Vol. XXV, p. 2981 – Vol. XXVI, p. 3074. On August 5, 2015, the district court entered its Decree of Foreclosure and a separate Judgment. R. Vol. XXVI, pp. 3075 – 3087.

VP filed a second motion to reconsider the judgment combined with a motion to alter and amend the judgment on August 19, 2015. R Vol. XXVII, p. 3114-3115. A supporting memorandum and supporting affidavit of counsel were also filed on August 19, 2017. R Vol. XXVII pp. 3116-3239. Valiant filed an opposition to VP and NIR's motion to reconsider, alter

7

and amend on October 1, 2015. R Vol. XXXI, pp. 3721-3726. An errata correction to VP's counsel's declaration was filed October 22, 2015. R Vol. XXXIII, pp. 3988-3989. On October 22, 2015, VP filed a reply memorandum in support of its motion. R Vol. XXXIII, pp. 3982-3985.

Valiant filed a motion to strike inadmissible evidence supporting VP's motion to reconsider on October 9, 2015. R. Vol. XXXI, pp. 3733-3736. A memorandum in support of the motion to strike was also filed October 9, 2015. R Vol. XXXI, p. 3737-3745. On October 22, 2015, VP filed a motion for enlargement of time to file its response. R Vol. XXXIII, pp. 3986-3987. On October 22, 2015, VP filed its opposition to Valiant's motion to strike.

On August 19, 2015, Valiant filed a motion to amend the decree of foreclosure. R Vol. XXVII, pp. 3240-3243. The motion was supported by Valiant's memorandum. R Vol. XXVII, pp. 3244-3248. Valiant also filed a Motion to Alter, Amend and/or Reconsider the Order of Sale of Real Property. R Vol. XXVII, p. 3249-3252. The motion was supported by a memorandum, as well as the Declaration of Chad M. Nicholson, Charles W. Reeves, and C. Dean Shafer. R Vol. XXVIII, pp3523-3328.

VP filed a joint memorandum in opposition to Valiant's motion to amend the decree of foreclosure and to alter, amend and/or reconsider the order of sale supported by the declaration of Richard Villelli (including an errata correction). R Vol. XXIX, p. 3413 – 3498.

A hearing on the motion to reconsider and alter or amend filed by JV was held September 2, 2015. Motions Tr. pp. 185-216. At the hearing, the Court chose only to consider and rule upon JV's motion. Motions Tr. p. 188, ll. 7-24. The Court granted JV's motion. *Id.*

On September 3, 2015, the Court issued an Order Setting Trial and Pretrial Order, which scheduled the matter for a court trial on January 25, 2016. R Vol. XXX, pp. 3521-3526.

8

On September 4, 2015, the district court issued a Memorandum Decision and Order Granting in Part Reconsideration of the July 21, 2015 Memorandum Decision & Order. R. Vol. XXX, pp. 3527 – 3532. R Vol. XXX, p. 3530. An order vacating the decree of foreclosure and another order vacating the judgment were executed August 5, 2015, but not filed until September 17, 2015. R Vol. XXX, pp. 3549-3554.

On September 25, 2015, Valiant filed a pleading designated a Third Motion for Summary Judgment. R Vol. XXXI, p. 3623-3626. On the same date, it filed a supporting memorandum and the Declaration of Barney Ng in support of the Third Motion. R. Vol. XXXI, pp. 3627-3720.

On October 13, 2015, VP filed a memorandum in opposition to the third motion for summary judgment. R Vol. XXXII, pp. 3810-3822. A declaration of VP's counsel was filed October 13, 2015, in opposition to Valiant's third motion for summary judgment. R Vol. XXXII, pp. 3791-3809. The Declaration of Richard Villelli was also filed on October 14, 2015 in opposition to the third motion for summary judgment. R Vol. XXXII, p. 3828 – 3863. VP also requested the district court take judicial notice of a declaration previously made by Barney Ng in a separate judicial matter in California related to the loans made by REL in Idaho in opposition to the third motion for summary judgment. R Vol. XXXII, p. 3823-3827. An errata correction to the declaration of VP's counsel was filed October 22, 2015. R Vol. XXXIII, pp. 3988-3989.

Valiant filed its reply memorandum in support of its third motion for summary judgment on October 21, 2015. R Vol. XXXIII, p. 3924-3939. On October 20, 2015, Valiant filed the rebuttal declaration of Barney Ng in support of its October 13, 2015 motion for summary judgment which attempted to explain some of the statements made by Ng in the California litigation. R Vol. XXXIII, p. 3906-3910. Valiant also filed a rebuttal declaration from Chad Nicholson on October 20, 2015. R Vol. XXXIII pp. 3914-3923. VP moved to strike the rebuttals declarations of Ng and Nicholson on October 22, 2015. R Vol. XXXIII, pp. 3995-3999.

On October 16, 2015, Valiant filed a motion to strike the memoranda and declarations and affidavits of VP, which incorporated the supporting declaration of Chad Nicholson. R Vol. XXXII, pp. 3864-3878. VP opposed the motion to strike on October 16, 2015. R Vol. XXXII, pp. 3879-3883. On October 20, 2015, Valiant filed a motion to shorten time to have its motion to strike inadmissible evidence heard. R Vol. XXXIII, p. 3911-3913. On October 20, 2015, Valiant also filed the Declaration of Chad Nicholson in support of its motion to strike. R Vol. XXXIII, p. 3914-3923. Valiant filed its memorandum in support of its motion to strike on October 21, 2015.R Vol. XXXIII, p. 3914-3923. Valiant filed its memorandum in support of its motion to strike on October 21, 2015.R Vol. XXXIII, pp. 3962-3971.

Valiant filed a second motion to strike inadmissible evidence and a supporting memorandum on October 20, 2015. R Vol. XXXIII, pp. 3940-3952. VP opposed the motion by memorandum filed October 22, 2015. R Vol. XXXIII, pp. 3991-3994.

The district court heard Valiant's and VP's motions on October 23, 2015. Motions Tr. pp. 217-313. A Memorandum Decision & Order re: Motions Heard on October 23, 2015 was filed October 30, 2015. R Vol. XXXIII, pp. 4000-4019.

The district court issued an amended notice of trial on October 21, 2015, moving the trial from January 25, 2016 to January 28, 2016. R Vol. XXXIII, pp. 3953-3954.

On December 15, 2015, Valiant filed a motion in limine seeking to limit VP's evidence. R Vol. XXXIV, pp. 4032-4033. A supporting memorandum was filed the same date. R Vol. XXXIV, pp. 4036 – XXXV 4050. The Declaration of Richard L. Stacey was filed in support of Valiant's motions in limine. R Vol. XXXV, pp. 4057-4204. VP responded to the motion in limine on December 22, 2015. R Vol. XXXV, pp. 4221-4232. Valiant filed its reply on December 28, 2015. R Vol. XXXV, pp. 4243-4252. Valiant also filed the Declaration of Chad Nicholson on December 28, 2015 in support of its motion in limine. R Vol. XXXV, pp. 4258-4265.

The Court issued its Order re: Valiant Idaho LLC's Motion in Limine on December 29, 2015. R Vol. XXXV, pp. 4266-4268.

Trial proceeded on the matter. The first two days of trial occurred January 28, 2016, and January 29, 2016. Tr. Vol. I, p. 7 and Tr. Vol. II, p. 279. The third and fourth days of trial occurred on March 16, 2016, and March 17, 2016. Tr. Vol. III, pp. 555 and 775.

The district court entered its judgment on June 22, 2016. R Vol. XXXVII, p. 4619 – Vol. XL, p. 4909. A separate Decree of Foreclosure was entered June 22, 2016. R. Vol. XL, p. 4910 - XLI, p. 4940.

On June 22, 2016, Valiant filed a Motion for an Order of Sale of Real Property supported by a memorandum. R Vol. XLI, pp. 4985-5014. VP opposed the order of sale. R Vol. XLI, p. 5015-5018. On July 14, 2016, the Court entered its Order re: Order of Sale of Real Property. R Vol. XLIII, pp. 5270-5273.

On July 6, 2016, the district court held a hearing on the form of the judgment and decree of foreclosure which were entered because they omitted JV's priority and the property description of the property encumbered by JV's lien. R Vol. XLIII, pp. 526-5265. An order vacating the judgment was entered July 14, 2016. R Vol. XLIII, pp. 5266-5267. An order vacating the Decree of Foreclosure was also entered on July 14, 2016. R Vol. XLIII, pp. 5268-5270.

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