Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-23-2018

Valiant Idaho, LLC v. VP Incorporated Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44585

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

VP's 1st Motion to Reconsider could not create a genuine issue of material fact because it was filed without a supporting memorandum and it was not noticed for a hearing. R.Vol. XXII,

pp. 2596-99. VP's 2nd Motion to Reconsider incorrectly alleged that it was Valiant's burden to refute VP's affirmative defense, and it did not include any new facts or caselaw. R.Vol. XXIV, pp. 2788-89. This motion ignored that VP bore the burden of proof and failed to identify testimony or evidence allegedly establishing a prescriptive easement. Chandler, 147 Idaho at 769, 215 P.3d at 489. As such, the 2nd Motion to Reconsider did not create a genuine issue of material fact.

VP's 3rd Motion to Reconsider did not contain new facts or caselaw regarding its alleged prescriptive easement. R.Vol. XXVII, p. 3131. This motion contended only that Mr. Villelli's testimony that "certain of these [prescriptive] easements have existed in excess of 20 years" was sufficient to raise a question of fact as to whether VP possessed prescriptive easements. *Id.* VP did not cite to any other testimony or evidence. *Id.* The 3rd Motion to Reconsider misstated Mr. Villelli's testimony and was woefully insufficient to create a question of fact as to whether VP possessed prescriptive easements.

To establish that there are questions of fact as to whether VP possessed prescriptive easements, VP had to introduce facts meeting each element of a prescriptive easement when viewed in a light most favorable to VP. Chandler, 147 Idaho at 771, 215 P.3d at 491. A party cannot establish the existence of a prescriptive easement without showing that its use of the subject property was "(1) open and notorious; (2) continuous and interrupted; (3) adverse and under a claim of right; (4) with the actual or imputed knowledge of the owner of the servient tenement; and (5) for the statutory period." Beckstead v. Price, 146 Idaho 57, 62, 190 P.3d 876, 881 (2007). Moreover, "a prescriptive right cannot be obtained if the use of the servient estate is

by permission of the landowner." *Id.* Thus, VP had to introduce facts tending to prove each of the foregoing elements.

Mr. Villelli testified that much of the water and sewer system "infrastructure has been in place for over 20 years," but, this is the only testimony cited by VP in its opposition to the Partial SJ Motion. R.Vol. XXI, p. 2395. This testimony, by itself, cannot create a question of fact with respect to each element of a prescriptive easement. For example, said testimony did not establish that VP was the owner of any infrastructure for the prescriptive period. Moreover, the Villelli SJ Declaration indicated that VP could not have acquired a prescriptive easement. Specifically, Mr. Villelli testified that a Construction and Operating Agreement, which was not attached as an exhibit, "required [POBD] to extend portions of the existing water and sewer utility infrastructure, required [POBD] to transfer easements for the completed infrastructure and title to those lots upon which the sewer lagoons and water systems were located, and required VP to operate the system." Id. (emphasis added.) Mr. Villelli further testified that "VP operated the system as required." Id. (emphasis added.) As such, any alleged occupation of POBD property arising out of VP's operation and use of the water and sewer infrastructure was clearly permissive and pursuant to an agreement between VP and the property owner. Thus, VP could not have acquired a prescriptive easement because its use was not adverse. Beckstead, 146 Idaho at 62, 190 P.3d at 881.

On appeal, VP directs this Court to multiple pages of alleged undisputed facts set forth in extraneous declarations and documents. Appellant's Brief, pp. 18-29. However, VP did not cite to any of this testimony or evidence when it filed its opposition to the Partial SJ Motion or its 1st, 2nd or 3rd Motions to Reconsider. R.Vol. XXVII, p. 3131. Instead, VP relied solely upon its prior

briefing, which the court had already rejected, and one sentence of Mr. Villelli's testimony. *Id.*This situation is analogous to this Court's holding in *Armstrong v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho*, 147

Idaho 67, 205 P.3d 1203 (2009). Like the appellants in *Armstrong*, VP "specifically declined to respond to the motion with any substantive argument, instead relying solely on prior briefing that the court had already rejected. Appellants had the opportunity at that point to raise additional theories . . . [but] they failed to do so at their own peril." *Id.* at 72. Moreover, it is the longstanding rule of this Court that it "will not consider issues that are raised for the first time on appeal." *Parsons v. Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co.*, 143 Idaho 743, 746, 152 P.3d 614, 617 (2007). Thus, VP's references to extraneous documents and information for the first time on appeal cannot create questions of fact. *Id.*

A nonmoving party must present more than mere conclusory allegations to defeat summary judgment. *Stafford v. Weaver*, 136 Idaho 223, 225, 31 P.3d 245, 247 (2001); *Goodman v. Lothrop*, 143 Idaho 622, 627, 151 P.3d 818, 823 (2007) (holding that conclusory allegations unsupported by specific facts are insufficient to raise a genuine question of material fact precluding summary judgment). As VP submitted only conclusory allegations in support of its alleged prescriptive easement, VP's argument that there are questions of fact as to whether it possesses prescriptive easements is without bases in fact or law and should be rejected.

b. VP Does Not Possess An Equitable Servitude.

VP maintains that the district court committed reversible error because there were genuine questions of fact as to whether VP possessed an equitable servitude against an unidentified portion of the Foreclosed Property. However, like its prescriptive easement claims, VP misunderstands

the burden shifting framework related to an affirmative defense and failed to cite the elements of an equitable servitude or submit evidence to establish that there were genuine questions of fact regarding those elements. Moreover, an equitable servitude is not applicable to the facts of this case. Therefore, due to VP's failure to meet its burden of proof and because it could not possess an equitable servitude, its argument is without bases in fact or law and should be rejected.

Again, Valiant met its burden of establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. R.Vols. XV-VIII, pp. 1747-2069. Thus, the burden shifted to VP produce evidence by way of affidavit or otherwise to establish that there were genuine questions of fact. Chandler, 147 Idaho at 769, 215 P.3d at 489. To the extent that VP sought to demonstrate that it had an equitable servitude, it was incumbent upon VP to establish that there were questions of fact with respect to each element of this affirmative defense. Id. at 771, 215 P.3d at 491.

VP failed to meet its burden of proof as to its equitable servitude claim. VP filed a memorandum and the Villelli SJ Declaration in opposition to the Partial SJ Motion. R.Vol. XXI, pp. 2359, 2392. The memorandum included a conclusory allegation that VP possessed an equitable servitude "upon the lots upon which its lagoons, water system and pumping stations . . . aris[ing] from the CO Agreement." Id., pp. 2369-70. VP did not identify the lots/parcels upon which it contends said equitable servitude is located. Id. Although the memorandum also cited to a case in which this Court upheld the existence of an equitable servitude, it did not explain how an equitable servitude was applicable to the facts of this case, it did not identify the elements of a equitable servitude, nor did it identify testimony or evidence creating questions of fact regarding said elements. Id. at 2369-70. Moreover, it did not even cite to the Villelli SJ Declaration. Id.

Instead, VP argued that Valiant had the burden of proving that it did not have knowledge of an agreement that was not in the record. *Id.*, p. 2370. VP misunderstands the burden shifting framework with respect to its affirmative defenses. *Chandler*, 147 Idaho at 771, 215 P.3d at 491. Thus, VP's opposition to the Partial SJ Motion did not create a genuine question of fact as to whether it possessed an equitable servitude.

VP's 1st Motion to Reconsider could not create a question of fact because it was not supported by a memorandum or noticed for hearing. R.Vol. XXII, pp. 2596-99.

VP's 2nd Motion to Reconsider did not allege any new facts or caselaw, alleging instead that it was Valiant's burden to refute VP's alleged equitable servitude on summary judgment. R.Vol. XXIV, pp. 2788-89. This motion ignored that VP bore the burden of proof and failed to identify any testimony or evidence allegedly establishing an equitable servitude. *Chandler*, 147 Idaho at 769, 215 P.3d at 481. As such, VP's 2nd Motion to Reconsider did not create a question of fact.

VP's 3rd Motion to Reconsider did not cite to caselaw, it did not explain how an equitable servitude was applicable, it did not explain the elements of an equitable servitude, it did not explain how the facts it submitted created questions of fact with respect to said elements, nor did it cite to any affidavits. R.Vol. XXVII, p. 3131. The 3rd Motion to Reconsider contended that, when viewed in a light most favorable to VP, reasonable inferences should be drawn to determine that there was a question of fact as to whether Valiant's Mortgages were subject to VP's equitable servitude, *i.e.*, whether the water and sewer infrastructure was included in the sale to POBD and whether Valiant's predecessor-in-interest had knowledge of this before making its loans. *Id.*, p.

3130. VP did not ask the district court to reconsider its decision on any other bases. *Id.* The 3rd Motion to Reconsider misstated Mr. Villelli's testimony and it was woefully insufficient to create a question of fact as to whether VP possessed an equitable servitude.

To establish that there were questions of fact as to whether VP possessed an equitable servitude, VP was required to first set forth the elements of an equitable servitude. VP then had to explain why there are questions of fact with respect to each element. *Goodman*, 143 Idaho at 627, 151 P.3d at 823 (holding that conclusory assertions cannot raise an issue of material fact).

Black's Law Dictionary defines an equitable servitude as "building restrictions and restrictions on the use of land which may be enforced in equity." Black's Law Dictionary 539 (6th ed., West 1990). This definition is consistent with Idaho caselaw.

The Idaho Supreme Court has upheld the existence of equitable servitudes to enforce restrictive covenants. *See Thomas v. Campbell*, 107 Idaho 398, 690 P.2d 333 (1984); *Middlekauff v. Lake Cascade*, Inc., 110 Idaho 909, 719 P.2d 1169 (1986); and *West Wood Invs. v. Acord*, 141 Idaho 75, 106 P.3d 401 (2005). In each of these cases, this Court upheld the existence of an equitable servitude in favor of affected property owners because said property owners either purchased or sold a portion of their respective property in reliance upon the seller's/buyer's promise restricting the use of its land. However, this caselaw is inapplicable to the facts of this case. This Court has held:

[T]he test relevant to determining if *a promise regarding the use of land* runs against a successor in interest of the original promisor: 1) whether or not the party claiming the enforceable interest actually has an interest against the original promisor; and 2) if such right exists, whether it is enforceable against the subsequent purchaser.

West Wood Invs., 141 Idaho at 84, 106 P.3d at 410 (emphasis added). This rule is clear that equitable servitudes are only applicable where a successor-in-interest breaches a promise regarding the use of land. Id. There is no evidence that Valiant sought to refute a promise POBD made to property owners regarding the use of or building restrictions upon the Foreclosed Property. There is not even a restriction on the building or use of land at issue in this case. Instead, VP asks this Court to find that there are questions of fact as to whether VP possessed an equitable servitude based on express easements that POBD allegedly promised but failed to grant. Appellant's Brief, pp. 39-43. As counsel for VP is well aware, "an express easement, being an interest in real property, may only be created by a written instrument . . . between the owner of the dominant estate and the owner of the servient estate." Capstar Radio Operating Co. v. Lawrence, 143 Idaho 704, 707, 152 P.3d 575, 578 (2007) ("Capstar I"). VP seeks to circumvent the written instrument requirement by using the doctrine of equitable servitudes, which is not even applicable to the facts of this case. VP cannot meet its burden of proof with respect to this affirmative defense.

VP has not raised a genuine question of fact as to whether it has an enforceable interest against POBD. VP asserts that POBD failed to grant an express easement against certain real property. R.Vol. XXI, p. 2395. This promise was allegedly set forth in a construction and operating agreement. *Id.* However, VP did not provide a copy of this agreement to the district court. *Id.*, pp. 2369-70; R.Vol. XXVII, pp. 3130-31. Because an express easement must be in writing, it necessarily follows that an agreement to grant an express easement also must be in

19 Counsel for VP, Susan Weeks, argued on behalf of Capstar in said case.

writing. Capstar I, 143 Idaho at 707, 152 P.3d at 578; I.C. § 9-503. As there is no written agreement in the record, VP cannot meet its burden of proof with respect to this element.

Further, VP has failed to raise a genuine question of fact as to whether POBD's promise to grant an express easement is enforceable against Valiant. "Whether a successor in interest takes the interest subject to the equitable servitude is a question of notice." West Wood Invs., 141 Idaho at 85, 106 P.3d at 411. VP asserts that "undisputed evidence was submitted that Barney Ng . . . requested and was provided the final third amended and restated PSA, as well as the second version of the PSA, prior to granting the [RE Loans Mortgage]." Appellant's Brief, p. 42. This assertion misrepresents Mr. Villelli's testimony. Mr. Villelli testified only that "RE Loans requested and I provided a copy of the Second Restated Purchase and Sale Agreement. I understood R.E. Loans had a copy of the *Third* Restated Purchase and Sale Agreement." R.Vol. XXI, p. 2394 (emphasis added). Again, this is the only testimony cited by VP to establish the existence of a question of fact. R.Vol. XXVII, p. 3130. Contrary, to VP's misrepresentations, Mr. Villelli merely testified that he "provided" a copy of the "Second Restated Purchase and Sale Agreement," which was not attached to his declaration or otherwise submitted into the record. R.Vol. XXI, p. 2394. He did not testify to whom he provided said agreement, nor did he testify concerning any alleged provisions in said agreement. Id. The Second Restated Purchase and Sale Agreement could not have created a question of fact because it was not submitted into the record. Id. Moreover, Mr. Villelli did not testify that he provided a copy of the "Third Restated Purchase and Sale Agreement" to RE Loans or anyone else. Id. To the contrary, he merely testified that "he understood" that RE Loans had a copy of it. Id. Thus, Mr. Villelli did not have personal

knowledge as to whether RE Loans had a copy of the Third Restated Purchase and Sale Agreement, and his testimony cannot possibly create a question of fact regarding RE Loans' knowledge of its contents.

On appeal, VP directs this Court to multiple pages of allegedly undisputed facts set forth in extraneous declarations and documents. Appellant's Brief, pp. 18-29. However, VP did not cite to any of this testimony or evidence when it filed its opposition to the Partial SJ Motion or its 1st, 2nd or 3rd Motions to Reconsider. R.Vol. XXVII, p. 3131. Instead, VP relied solely upon its prior briefing, which the court had already rejected, and one sentence of Mr. Villelli's testimony. *Id.* VP relied upon its prior briefing without providing any additional information or argument at its own peril. *Armstrong v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho*, 147 Idaho 67, 72, 205 P.3d 1203, 1208. Moreover, Idaho's appellate courts "will not consider issues that are raised for the first time on appeal." *Parsons*, 143 Idaho at 746, 152 P.3d at 617. Thus, VP's references to extraneous documents and information for the first time on appeal cannot create questions of fact. *Id.*

A nonmoving party must present more than mere conclusory allegations to defeat summary judgment. *Stafford*, 136 Idaho at 225, 31 P.3d at 247. VP submitted only conclusory allegations in support of its alleged equitable servitude; therefore, VP's argument that a question of fact exists as to whether it has an equitable servitude is without bases in fact or law and should be rejected.

C. The District Court's Foreclosure Decree Was Not Erroneous.

In the July 20, 2016 Foreclosure Decree, the district court directed the sale of the encumbered property and the application of the sale proceeds. R.Vol. XLIV, pp. 5317–30. The

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